State Of New Hampshire Supreme Court

KATHERINE R. BRADY, Plaintiff – Appellant v. LAWRENCE P. SUMSKI, Defendant – Appellee

On Certification from the U.S. District Court, District of New Hampshire Case No. 22-cv-272-SM

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT, KATHERINE R. BRADY

Leonard G. Deming, II, Esquire (on the Brief and presenting oral argument) Deming Law Office 491 Amherst Street, Suite 22 Nashua NH 03063 603-882-2189 (Ext #2)

NH Bar#: 00618

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table of Contents		
Table of Authorities		
Issues Presented		
Statutory Provisions7		
Statement of the Case		
Statement of Facts		
Standard of Review14		
Summary of the Argument14		
Argument15		
 I. THE COHABITING SPOUSE OF THE OWNER OF16 HOMESTEAD PROPERTY HAS AN INTEREST ENTITLING SUCH SPOUSE TO A VALUABLE, PRESENT, SEPARATE, NON-CONTINGENT, ENFORCEABLE HOMESTEAD INTEREST AND EXEMPTION EVEN THOUGH NOT ON THE TITLE OF THE HOMESTEAD PROPERTY PURSUANT TO N.H.R.S.A. 480:1 <i>ET SEQ</i> A. N.H.R.S.A 480:1 Grants A Homestead Exemption16 		
To A Non-Owning Spouse Due To Such Spouse's Interest Therein		
B. N.H.R.S.A 480:3-a Sets Forth The Duration Of The22		
Exemption Granted To The Non-Owning Spouse To Extend		
Beyond The Decease Of The Spouse Owning The Homestead		
Property		

II. THE OWNERSHIP REQUIREMENT IN THE SECOND...24 SENTENCE OF N.H.R.S.A. 480:1 IS ONLY INTENDED TO REFER TO OWNERSHIP OF THE LAND UPON WHICH THE RERERENCED MANUFACTURED HOUSING SITS, AND DOES NOT VITIATE THE HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION OF THE NON-OWNER SPOUSE

A. The Amendments Of N.H.R.S.A. 480:1 Reflected The......25General Court's Shifting Treatment Of The Evolution Of TheProminence Of Manufactured Housing.

B. Resort To The Legislative History Is Appropriate To......27 Resolve Any Perceived Ambiguity In N.H.R.S.A. 480:1, And The Legislative History Makes It Clear That The Second Sentence Of N.H.R.S.A. 480:1 Does Not Impact The Homestead Exemption Of The Non-Owning Spouse

III. THE VALUE OF THE NON-OWNING SPOUSE'S......32 HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION PURSUANT TO N.H.R.S.A. 480:1 IS CURRENTLY \$120,000

Conclusion	
Statement Regarding Oral Argument	
Signature Block	
Certificate of Compliance	
Certificate of Service	
Addendum	
Appendix	Separately Bound

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Cases</u>

Appeal of Ann Miles Builder, 150 N.H. 315, 318 (2003)27
Bedard v. Town of Alexandria, 159 N.H. 740, 742 (2010)14
Boissonnault v. Savage, 455, 137 N.H. 229 (N.H. 1993)31
<i>Currier v. Woodward</i> , 62 N.H. 63, 66 (1882)
Deutsche Bank National Trust v. Pike,
916 F.3r 60 (1 st Cir., 2019)
Green Meadows Mobile Homes, Inc, et al v. City of Concord,27
156 N.H. 394, 395-6 (N.H. 2007)
<i>In re Howe</i> , 232 B.R. 534, 540 (B.A.P. 1st Cir. 1999)28
Maroun v. Deutsche Bank Nat'l Tr. Co
167 N.H. 220 (2014)
In re Myers, 323 B.R. 11, 13 (Bankr. D.N.H. 2005)
Robitaille v. Roy and Dahar, Rockingham County Superior21
Court, Docket No. 218-2014-CV-00406
Sabato v. FNMA, 172 N.H. 128 (2019) 18-20,34

Stewart v. Bader, 154 N.H. 75 (N.H. 2006)	8
<i>In re Szwyd</i> , 370 B.R. 882, 890 (B.A.P. 1st Cir. 2007)2	8
In the Matter of Watterworth & Watterworth149 N.H. 442 (2003)3	5
Walbridge v. Estate of Beaudoin, 163 N.H. 804 (2012)2	0

<u>Statutes</u>

N.H.R.S.A. 480:1	12-17,21,24-26,28-30,32,36,37
N.H.R.S.A. 480:3 (Repealed)	
N.H.R.S.A. 480:3-a	
N.H.R.S.A. 480:5-a	
N.H.R.S.A. 529:20-a	

Other Authorities

Black's Law Dictionary, Revised Fourth Edition, 1968, p. 95017
Journal of the Senate, January Session, 1961, p. 242,24
taken from the NH State Archives
"Plain English Version" Regarding Manufactured Housing29
taken from NH State Archives
Journal of the Senate, 24 May 1983, pp. 974-975,30
taken from the NH State Archives

ISSUES PRESENTED

The issues presented in this case are set forth in the U.S. District Court's Certification Order dated December 1, 2022, which complete order is included in the Addendum hereto, *infra* p. 40.

The order certifies the following issues:

1. Does the ownership requirement described in the second sentence of N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. 480:1 apply to all real property occupied as a homestead, or does it apply only to manufactured housing occupied as a homestead?

That is to say, assuming the homestead is real property other than manufactured housing, does the non-owning occupying spouse of one who holds a homestead right pursuant to RSA 480:1 also have a present, vested, non-contingent homestead right of his or her own, which is currently valued at \$120,000? and

2. Does a non-owning spouse who occupies a manufactured housing unit with an owning spouse have a present (i.e., non-contingent) and enforceable homestead right with respect to that home, which is currently valued at \$120,000?

STATUTORY PROVISIONS

§ 480:1. Amount

Every person is entitled to \$120,000 worth of his or her homestead, or of his or her interest therein, as a homestead. The homestead right created by this chapter shall exist in manufactured housing, as defined by RSA 674:31, which is owned and occupied as a dwelling by the same person but shall not exist in the land upon which the manufactured housing is situated if that land is not also owned by the owner of the manufactured housing.

History:

Amended by 2015, 57:1, eff. 1/1/2016.

Note:

1851, 1089:1. CS 196:1. GS 124:1. 1868, 1:33. 1878, 22:1, 2, 3. GL
138:1, 5, 6. PS 138:1. PL 214 :1. RL 260:1. 1947, 72:1. 1953, 133:1.
RSA 480:1. 1973, 212:1. 1977, 299:1. 1981, 333:1. 1983, 230:15.
1991, 362:5. 1992, 118:1. 2001, 70:1. 2003, 169:1, eff. Jan. 1, 2004.
2015, 57:1, eff. Jan. 1, 2016.

NH Stat. 480:1 Amount (New Hampshire Statutes (2023 Edition))

§ 480:3-a. Duration

The owner and the husband or wife of the owner are entitled to occupy the homestead right during the owner's lifetime. After the decease of the owner, the surviving wife or husband of the owner is entitled to the homestead right during the lifetime of such survivor. Note:

1961, 96:1, eff. June 19, 1961.

NH Stat. 480:3-a Duration (New Hampshire Statutes (2023 Edition))

"§ 480:3. [Repealed] [Duration]

The owner, the husband or wife of the owner and the minor children, if any, are entitled to occupy the homestead right during the owner's lifetime. After the decease of the owner the surviving wife or t husband of the owner and the minor children, if any, are entitled to occupy the homestead right during the minorit of the children. Subject to the foregoing provisions, the surviving wife or husband of the owner is entitled to the ohestead right during the lifetime of such survivor.

Note:

1851, 1089:1. GS 196:1. GS 124:1. 1868 1:33. 1878, 22:1,2,3. GL 138:1,5,6. PS 138:2. PL 214:2. RL 260:2.

History:

Repealed 1961, 96:5, eff. 6/19/1961." NH Stat. 480:3 [Repealed] (New Hampshire Statutes (2023 Edition))

§ 480:5-a. Encumbering

No deed shall convey or encumber the homestead right, except a mortgage made at the time of purchase to secure payment of the purchase money, unless it is executed by the owner and wife or husband, if any, with the formalities required for the conveyance of land.

Note:

1961, 96:2, eff. June 19, 1961.

NH Stat. 480:5-a Encumbering (New Hampshire Statutes (2023 Edition))

§ 529:20-a. Notice of Homestead Exemption

Along with the notice required under RSA 529:20, the party in whose name the execution has issued shall provide to any person who resides or appears to reside on the real estate to be sold, the following notice by certified mail:

NOTICE

IF YOU OR YOUR SPOUSE OWNS AND RESIDES IN THIS PROPERTY, YOU AND/OR YOUR SPOUSE MAY BE ENTITLED TO A HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION PURSUANT TO RSA 480:1. THIS EXEMPTS \$120,000 FOR A SINGLE PERSON AND \$240,000 FOR A MARRIED COUPLE. IN ORDER TO CLAIM THIS EXEMPTION, YOU MUST NOTIFY THE SHERIFF OF THE COUNTY IN WHICH THE REAL ESTATE IS SITUATED AND THE JUDGMENT CREDITOR OF THE AMOUNT OF YOUR HOMESTEAD CLAIM IN WRITING. IF YOU DO SO BEFORE THE SALE, THE SHERIFF MUST PAY YOU THE AMOUNT OF YOUR HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION BEFORE PAYING THE JUDGMENT CREDITOR FROM THE PROCEEDS OF THE SALE. IF, HOWEVER, THE JUDGMENT CREDITOR FILES A MOTION IN COURT CHALLENGING YOUR ENTITLEMENT TO OR THE AMOUNT OF THE HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION, THE SHERIFF SHALL NOT DISTRIBUTE THE PROCEEDS FROM THE SALE UNTIL FURTHER ORDER OF THE COURT.

IF YOU DO NOT NOTIFY THE SHERIFF AND THE CREDITOR OF YOUR EXEMPTION UNTIL AFTER THE SALE, THE CREDITOR NEED NOT PAY YOU THE AMOUNT OF YOUR HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION UNTIL THE EXPIRATION OF THE ONE-YEAR PERIOD DURING WHICH YOU MAY REDEEM THE PROPERTY PURSUANT TO RSA 529:26.

IF THE SHERIFF RECEIVES YOUR NOTICE OF HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION PRIOR TO THE SALE, THE SHERIFF MAY NOT SELL THE PROPERTY FOR LESS THAN THE AMOUNT OF

THE CLAIMED HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION WITHOUT FURTHER ORDER OF THE COURT.

History:

Amended by 2015, 57:2, eff. 1/1/2016. Amended by 2012, 31:1, eff. 7/1/2012.

Note:

1994, 12:1, eff. Jan. 1, 1995. 2012, 31:1, eff. July 1, 2012. 2015, 57:2, eff. Jan. 1, 2016.

NH Stat. 529:20-a Notice of Homestead Exemption (New Hampshire Statutes (2023 Edition))

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is presented to this Honorable Court upon the certification of questions of law from the U.S. District Court for the District of New Hampshire. The certification order, which this Court has accepted, is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference in the Addendum, p. 40.

In sum, the Appellant Katherine Brady filed for protection from her creditors under Title 11 of the United States Code (hereinafter the Bankruptcy Code) pursuant to Chapter 7 initially and then converting to Chapter 13. In her filing, she asserted the homestead exemption pursuant to N.H.R.S.A 480:1 *et seq* on her behalf as the title owner of the property, and a separate homestead exemption pursuant to the same statute on her cohabiting spouse's behalf. Her spouse is not on title to the property but resides in the family unit along with their two minor children.

The bankruptcy trustees objected to the spousal exemption, and the bankruptcy court sustained the objection after a hearing and after rejecting the Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration.

The Appellant appealed the ruling of the bankruptcy court to the U.S. District Court, and the U.S. District Court certified the salient questions of law involved in the case to this Honorable Court, which accepted the certification.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The parties submitted a Joint Statement of Facts, Appellant's Appendix, p. 3, (hereinafter App.), in the underlying case which is adopted by the Appellant/Debtor. There is no dispute as to the following facts.

The case was commenced by the filing of a voluntary Chapter 7 Petition on December 21, 2021. App at p. 3. At the time of the petition, the debtor resided with her husband and their two children at a certain single family residential property located at 27 Pinewood Drive, Merrimack, New Hampshire. Hereinafter the property. The property is titled only in the Debtor's name, pursuant to a deed dated June 2, 2014. The Debtor on her Schedule C claimed a homestead exemption under RSA 480:1 in the amount of \$120,000.00. She also claimed an additional \$120,000.00 homestead exemption on behalf of her non-debtor, non-owner spouse. The Debtor asserts that her nondebtor, non-owner spouse is entitled to an exemption by virtue of his interest in the property pursuant to N.H.R.S.A. 480:1. The Chapter 13 Trustee asserts to the contrary that the non-debtor, non-owner spouse is not entitled to an exemption in the property, because he is not an owner, and therefore adopted the objection to the additional exemption filed by the previous Chapter 7 trustee to the debtor's exemption in favor of her spouse. The trustee also objected to the Debtor's amendment of Schedule D which asserted a lien interest in

favor of her spouse in the same amount based on the claimed exemption.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Inasmuch as the facts in this case are undisputed, only issues of law are presented. This Court reviews a trial court's interpretation of statutes, and other issues of law *de novo*. *Bedard v. Town of Alexandria*, 159 N.H. 740, 742 (2010).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

New Hampshire statutes, especially N.H.R.S.A. 480:1, grant and recognize a person's present, separate, valuable, non-contingent, and enforceable homestead right in homestead property owned by the person's spouse even though that person is not on title to the property so long as that person occupies the property and co-habitates with the spouse. There is no ownership requirement for this homestead "interest," and the "ownership" language found in the second sentence of N.H.R.S.A. 480:1 is only meant to refer to the land upon which manufactured housing sits which is claimed as a part of a homestead.

To the extent that there is any ambiguity in the reading of N.H.R.S.A. 480:1, resort to legislative history and the construction courts have given to the language make it clear that the non-owning spouse holds this present, separate, valuable, non-contingent, and

enforceable homestead right in homestead property and may therefore avail oneself of the homestead exemption provided by N.H.R.S.A. 480:1 to the extent of the value set forth therein, currently \$120,000, independently of the similar right of the spouse who owns the property.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

Statutes at Issue

The statutes before the Court are those impacting the meaning and extent of the homestead right and exemption in New Hampshire Revised Statutes Annotated. These include, among possible others, N.H.R.S.A. 480:1, which sets forth the exemption to which a person with an interest in the homestead property is entitled, N.H.R.S.A. 480:3-a, which addresses the duration of the homestead exemption, N.H.R.S.A. 480:5-a, which sets forth the exemption as an encumbrance and how it must be treated at the time of any conveyance of the homestead property, and N.H.R.S.A. 529:20-a which addresses the process by which creditors seeking to execute on homestead property must give notice and otherwise proceed in execution.

I. THE COHABITING SPOUSE OF THE OWNER OF HOMESTEAD PROPERTY HAS AN INTEREST ENTITLING SUCH SPOUSE TO A VALUABLE, PRESENT, SEPARATE, NON-CONTINGENT, ENFORCEABLE HOMESTEAD INTEREST AND EXEMPTION EVEN THOUGH NOT ON THE TITLE OF THE HOMESTEAD PROPERTY PURSUANT TO N.H.R.S.A. 480:1 *ET SEQ*

A. N.H.R.S.A 480:1 Grants A Homestead Exemption To A Non-Owning Spouse Due To Such Spouse's Interest Therein

The New Hampshire homestead exemption is found in

N.H.R.S.A 480:1. It reads:

Every person is entitled to \$120,000 worth of his or her homestead, or of his or her *interest* therein, as a homestead. The homestead right created by this chapter shall exist in manufactured housing, as defined by RSA 674:31, which is owned and occupied as a dwelling by the same person but shall not exist in the land upon which the manufactured housing is situated if that land is not also owned by the owner of the manufactured housing. Amended by 2015, 57:1, eff. 1/1/2016.

Emphasis added.

"Interest" in this context does not necessarily mean "ownership." A spouse who resides and cohabits with his or her spouse has an "interest" in the home which gives each spouse a homestead interest even where one spouse does not have a title ownership interest. As one authority has stated, "interest" means: More particularly it means a right to have the advantage accruing from anything; any right in the nature of property, but less than title; a partial or undivided right; a title to a share. The terms "interest" and "title" are not synonymous.

Black's Law Dictionary, Revised Fourth Edition, 1968, p. 950.

The non-owner, non-debtor spouse clearly has an interest. In the instant bankruptcy case below, the Appellant suggested that how it might be reflected on bankruptcy schedules, for example, may be a matter of subjective preference but having the same result. It may be reflected as an encumbrance on Schedule D in the amount of \$120,000, or a joint property interest on the debtor's Schedule A (the "interest" being the homestead right), or an exemption allowed by New Hampshire law on Schedule C either under N.H.R.S.A 480:1 or N.H.R.S.A 480:3-a, as applicable.

This exemption is reflected in the statutory procedure for giving notice in collection matters in New Hampshire which suggests that both spouses, regardless of ownership, have a homestead exemption to be reckoned with:

Notice of Homestead Exemption

Along with the notice required under RSA 529:20, the party in whose name the execution has issued shall provide to any person who resides or appears to reside on the real estate to be sold, the following notice by certified mail:

NOTICE

IF YOU <u>OR</u> YOUR SPOUSE OWNS AND RESIDES IN THIS PROPERTY, YOU AND/OR YOUR SPOUSE MAY BE ENTITLED TO A HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION PURSUANT TO RSA 480:1. THIS EXEMPTS \$ 120,000 FOR A SINGLE PERSON AND \$ 240,000 FOR A MARRIED COUPLE *et seq*

NH Stat. 529:20-a Notice of Homestead Exemption (New Hampshire Statutes (2022 Edition)(Emphasis added).

It has long been held that the homestead created by the New Hampshire legislature is to be construed liberally to effectuate its purpose of safeguarding the family home. *Stewart v. Bader*, 907 A.2d 931, 943, 154 N.H. 75 (N.H. 2006) ("The purpose of the homestead exemption is "to secure to debtors and their families, the shelter of the homestead roof..."), *Currier v. Woodward*, 62 N.H. 63, 66 (1882).

This Court has so applied this principle often. A case in point is *Sabato v. Federal National Mortgage Association*, 172 N.H. 128, 132 (2019). In *Sabato*, a senior mortgagee committed the mortal sin of failing to obtain the homestead release of the non-owning spouse whereas a junior mortgagee did. The owner had released her homestead in the senior mortgage but the debtor husband did not. The result was that the foreclosing junior mortgagee had to pay the non-owner husband the balance of the homestead interest of \$120,000 after deducting the \$64,872.01 it paid on its own behalf at the sale.

But what was instructive in *Sabato* were the conclusions that this Court came to in arriving at its decision. Citing *Maroun v*. *Deutsche Bank Nat'l Tr. Co.*, 167 N.H. 220, 224-225, 109 A.3d 203, 208 (2014), the court stated, "Statutory homestead protections are universally held to be liberally construed to achieve their public policy objective." *Sabato* at 132. Continuing, the court went on to say:

The homestead exemption statute, RSA chapter 480 (2013 & Supp. 2018), provides that "[e]very person is entitled to \$120,000 worth of his or her homestead, or of his or her interest therein, as a homestead." RSA 480:1 (Supp. 2018). "The statutory protection of the homestead right" applies not only to the homeowner, but "also extends to spouses who <u>occupy</u> the homestead but are not title owners of the property." <u>Maroun</u>, 167 N.H. at 226, 109 A.3d 203.

Sabato, id Emphasis added. The continuing analysis of the mortgagee discord in that case emphasizes the non-owner's separate exemption, noting,

The waiver of the plaintiff's homestead exemption in the second mortgage did not impute a waiver into the first mortgage; rather, the waiver in the second mortgage merely gave the second mortgagee the right to step into the plaintiff's shoes with respect to <u>his</u> priority over the first mortgage up to the value of the homestead exemption. [Citation omitted] Sabato at 135 Emphasis added. The Sabato court's reliance on the analysis in Maroun was well-founded. The latter court, in analyzing the rights of the non-debtor spouse, also stated, "Our solicitude reflects the fact that the homestead laws were <u>primarily</u> enacted for the protection of the non-owner spouse and dependent children." Maroun at 229. Emphasis added.

Other courts have relied on this principle in endorsing the pronouncements of this Court. For example, the First Circuit Court of Appeals, in *Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co. v. Pike*, 916 F.3d 60 (1st Cir., 2019), was explicit in this regard, deducing that, "…in the event of a forced sale, a person with a homestead right is entitled to a set-off in the statutorily defined amount." The *Deutsche Bank* court went on further to say:

When a married couple resides together in a home, the homestead right "extends to ... both spouses, even when only one spouse legally owns the homestead." *Maroun v. Deutsche Bank Nat'l Tr. Co.*, 167 N.H. 220, 109 A.3d 203, 208 (2014) (citing N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 480:3-a); see also N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 529:20-a. The homestead right of a property owner's spouse is established once he or she physically *occupies* the subject property. *Walbridge v. Estate of Beaudoin*, 163 N.H. 804, 48 A.3d 964, 966 (2012).

Deutsche Bank. at 68. Emphasis added.

Indeed, the bankruptcy court below seems to have sent unclear messages in its decisions. For example, it rendered its opinion n the case of *In re Weiner*, 2015 BNH 013 citing the *Maroun* case as to a liberal construction of the homestead exemption and suggesting that non-owning spouses are entitled to it separately, which leads to confusion in the bankruptcy bar. *Weiner* at 6-7, App. at pp. 57-58.

Practitioners in New Hampshire have long relied on courts applying this principle in numerous contexts, be it bankruptcy or just typical non-bankruptcy collection actions. A typical example of the treatment by New Hampshire lower courts relative to the homestead exemption in favor of the non-owner spouse is found where the Rockingham County Superior Court's order on cross-motions for summary judgment in the case of *Robitaille v. Roy and Dahar*, Rockingham County Superior Court, Docket No. 218-2014-CV-00406, App. at pp. 66-72, applied the *Maroun* decision to determine that a non-owner spouse has a separate homestead exemption as it embraced the "liberal construction" of the homestead statute in the same fashion that virtually all state courts that have reviewed the issue have done. Attorneys have relied upon this construction over the years, especially in the bankruptcy forum, as have citizens across the state.

B. N.H.R.S.A 480:3-a Sets Forth The Duration Of The Exemption Granted To The Non-Owning Spouse To Extend Beyond The Decease Of The Spouse Owning The Homestead Property

The Appellant asserts that N.H.R.S.A 480:1 and 3-a reference the separate exemption for the non-owner husband who occupies the homestead with her, and that this homestead right already granted by N.H.R.S.A 480:1 is clarified to be preserved in the non-owner spouse pursuant to N.H.R.S.A. 480:3-a should the owner spouse predecease him prior to their conveying the homestead.

N.H.R.S.A. 480:3-a was amended in 1963 inasmuch as the previous statute, N.H.R.S.A. 480:3, referenced the non-owning spouse and any children. The bankruptcy court below in the case at bar suggested that if the spouse could claim an exemption, then any adult living in the home could also do so. But the amendment of N.H.R.S.A. 480:3 makes it clear that this was not so.

A review of the legislative history supports the Debtor's position that the statutory exemption limits its benefit to the owner and the spouse. Before 1961, NHRSA 480:3 read as follows:

480:3 Duration. The owner, the husband or wife of the owner and minor children, if any, are entitled to occupy the homestead right during the owner's lifetime. After the decease of the owner the surviving wife or husband of the owner <u>and the</u> <u>minor children</u>, if any, are entitled to occupy the homestead right during the minority of the children. Subject to the foregoing provisions, the surviving wife or husband of the owner is entitled to the homestead right during the lifetime of such survivor.

NHRSA 480:3 (Repealed), Emphasis added. *Supra* at 8, App at p. 19. The conclusion of the bankruptcy court that any resident could claim an exemption is clearly refuted by the amendment to N.H.R.S.A 480:3 which previously did reference the children and presumably granted such an exemption.

However, this statute prior to 1961 created conveyancing problems and required special steps, typically in probate, to appoint representatives for the minor children in certain circumstances to convey real estate. This problem was finally addressed in 1961 with the repeal of NHRSA 480:3 and replacing it with NHRSA 480:3-a, *supra* at 7-8, which now reads to only refer to the non-owner spouse and eliminates the children, minor or otherwise, from having a statutorily-recognized homestead interest. Most of the legislative history which exists is merely procedural, referencing "SB 80, relative to the homestead right of minor children." App at p. 20. But the comments on the Senate floor by one Senator Cleveland make the purpose clear which, in part, reads: "…[W]e feel it is imperative that some action be taken on the matter. This will clear up many title defects on important property." Journal of the Senate, January Session, 1961, p. 242. App at p. 20. However, neither N.H.R.S.A. 480:3 nor N.H.R.S.A. 480:3-a repealing it actually granted the exemption; they merely clarified the duration of the exemption for the non-owner spouse. The "interest" set forth in N.H.R.S.A 480:1 remained sacrosanct.

II. THE OWNERSHIP REQUIREMENT IN THE SECOND SENTENCE OF N.H.R.S.A. 480:1 IS ONLY INTENDED TO REFER TO OWNERSHIP OF THE LAND UPON WHICH THE RERERENCED MANUFACTURED HOUSING SITS, AND DOES NOT VITIATE THE HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION OF THE NON-OWNER SPOUSE

The General Court presumably knows how to change the impact and meaning of a statute, along with its language, if that is its intent. Here, the amendment of N.H.R.S.A. 480:1 to address the homestead exemption in manufactured housing in the second sentence did not eliminate the non-owning spouse's homestead exemption or it would have done so by eliminating the "interest" language in the first sentence.

If the General Court wanted to require ownership generally, it could have replaced the word "interest" in the first sentence with "ownership."

A. The Amendments Of N.H.R.S.A. 480:1 Reflected The General Court's Shifting Treatment Of The Evolution Of The Prominence Of Manufactured Housing.

Rather, the General Court was addressing the evolution of manufactured housing in the United States, and its serving as a dwelling place for people across the country. The Attorney General addresses this factor much more cogently and the Appellant refers the Court to his Amicus Brief in the instant case. The rise of the use of house trailers and such had begun to evolve into homes placed on real estate and used as permanent dwellings.

The General Court had initially amended N.H.R.S.A. 480:1 in 1977 to add a sentence which clearly stated that owners of manufactured housing were not entitled to claim a homestead exemption. This was mainly due to the fact that such housing was treated as a chattel and not real estate. The evolving nature of the use of manufactured housing nationwide, however, led the General Court to reverse course and to recognize that manufactured housing was increasingly and commonly being used as a permanent home. In 1983, the General Court passed legislation which served to treat certain manufactured housing once leaving the factory and being sold to the consumer to be treated as realty, changing the rules of conveyancing by requiring such to be recorded in registries of deeds, requiring transfer stamps, and taxing manufactured housing the same as any real estate. Thus, the language at issue in the case at bar was incorporated into the current text of N.H.R.S.A. 480:1 as stated *infra*, and restated here for the Court's convenience:

Every person is entitled to \$120,000 worth of his or her homestead, or of his or her interest therein, as a homestead. The homestead right created by this chapter shall exist in manufactured housing, as defined by RSA 674:31, which is owned and occupied as a dwelling by the same person but shall not exist in the land upon which the manufactured housing is situated if that land is not also owned by the owner of the manufactured housing. Amended by 2015, 57:1, eff. 1/1/2016.

The bankruptcy court below adopted the trustee's embrace of the "ownership" language in the second sentence, which only refers to manufactured housing, to the effect that N.H.R.S.A 480:1 must perforce apply to the entire section. But, as asserted above, the legislature knows how to change and apply language where it needs to. It did not do so here and it retained the "interest" language in the first sentence.

The Appellant here asserts that the "interest" is the homestead exemption of her non-owner spouse, and that the language in the second sentence does not impact that exemption which her spouse retains in her homestead real estate. **B.** Resort To The Legislative History Is Appropriate To Resolve Any Perceived Ambiguity In N.H.R.S.A. 480:1, And The Legislative History Makes It Clear That The Second Sentence Of N.H.R.S.A. 480:1 Does Not Impact The Homestead Exemption Of The Non-Owning Spouse

It must be inferred that the bankruptcy court below, in rendering its decision, found the language in NHRSA 480:1 regarding ownership to be ambiguous.

In its memorandum opinion, the bankruptcy court below, noting what it seemed to find ambiguous, stated:

The Court is cognizant that RSA 480:1 does not use the word "owner" or "owned" in the first sentence of the statute but rather refers to a homestead and an "interest therein." However, the second sentence of the statute does refer to property that "is owned and occupied as a dwelling." With respect to manufactured housing, the statute is clear that someone must own and occupy the manufactured housing in order to assert a homestead exemption under RSA 480:1. It is not enough to simply occupy it. From a public policy standpoint, it would be nonsensical for the homestead exemption to be more restrictive for manufactured housing than it is for all other housing. Thus, the statute as a whole supports an interpretation that ownership and occupancy are required to claim a homestead exemption in all housing. To interpret the statute otherwise would discriminate against owners of manufactured housing.

Bankruptcy Court Memo, p. 7. App at p. 11. The bankruptcy court below found it difficult to reconcile the ownership requirement for

manufactured housing and the first sentence which contained no such explicit requirement, and perhaps understandably so. But should there be any ambiguity, resort to the legislative history is appropriate. Green Meadows Mobile Homes, Inc, et al v. City of Concord, 156 N.H. 394, 395-6, 934 A.2d 586 (N.H. 2007) ("Where the statutory language is ambiguous or where more than one reasonable interpretation exists, we review legislative history to aid in our analysis.' Appeal of Ann Miles Builder, 150 N.H. 315, 318, 837 A.2d 335 (2003) (quotation omitted)." As the court in *In re Szwyd*, 370 B.R. 882, 890 (B.A.P. 1st Cir. 2007) stated, "When statutory language is plain and unambiguous it should be enforced unless doing so would lead to an absurd result or be contrary to the legislature's manifest intention." (regarding Massachusetts homestead issue). Similarly, the court in In re Howe, 232 B.R. 534, 540 (B.A.P. 1st Cir. 1999) stated, "The Rhode Island Supreme Court has stated that 'where the statutory language used is ambiguous, or admits of more than one meaning, it is to be taken in such sense as will conform to the scope of the act and carry out the purpose of the statute." (Citation omitted)(tort claim exemption). A close review of the legislative history clarifies the intent of the General Court relative to the second sentence of NHRSA 480:1.

It must be understood that the amendment to NHRSA 480:1 in 1983 was a small and nearly unmentioned part of a much larger house bill which greatly changed the way manufactured housing was recognized and treated. The "Plain English Version" of the bill, HB63FN, reveals the extent of the legislation. Copy of "Plain English Version" of Manufactured Housing bill taken from NH State Archives, App at pp. 21-22. The reference to the homestead exemption for manufactured housing as being the same as the current homestead exemption but upon amendment applicable to manufactured housing, emerges as a "one liner" in paragraph 6 of this "Plain English Version." App at 22.

The primary thrust of the legislation was to change the characterization of manufactured housing from a chattel to real estate, to change the taxation of it as real estate, to require the recording of it in registries of deeds in certain circumstances, to deal with who could sell it and whether one had to be licensed, and a number of other issues which changed the way manufactured housing would henceforth be treated. The "ownership" issue appearing in the legislative history was the issue of ownership of the housing *vis a vis* ownership of the land upon which it sat. Most such housing was located, and still is, on park land which is owned by someone else. The distinction made was that the legislation was not to be interpreted as giving a homestead right to land upon which the housing sat if the owner of the housing did not also own the land. Hence, NHRSA 480:1 made a distinction between the manufactured housing and the land

upon which it sat. This distinction, the Appellant asserts, was not to require the spouse to own the manufactured housing. Rather, the only reference at all to this specific issue that this writer could find after a thorough review of the legislative history indicates quite the contrary. Referencing a final amendment to HB63FN, the Senate Journal specifically states that the owner AND the spouse are entitled to separate homestead exemptions that must be satisfied if not waived. Copy of Senate Journal, 24 May 1983, pp. 974-975. App at 23-24, highlighted at 24. This writer could find no other discussion, countervailing or otherwise, relative to this straight statement as to the intended impact of the homestead exemption and the understanding of the General Court in so enacting it. For this Honorable Court's convenience, the language (partially highlighted) reads as follows:

In the event such homestead rights are not waived, a secured party foreclosing upon a security interest created under this paragraph shall first pay to the debtor an amount equal to that which a person is entitled to under RSA 480:1, *and the same amount to his or her spouse*, if any, out of the proceeds of the sale of the manufactured housing, which payment shall extinguish all homestead rights therein.

Id. App at 24. Emphasis added. This reinforces the apparent understanding and intent of the legislature that NHRSA 480:1 gives both spouses, regardless of ownership, a separate homestead exemption. Thus, the language as to the homestead exemption was created without altering the "interest" language found in the first sentence of RSA 480:1 but incorporating the "ownership" language in the second sentence as to manufactured housing which the Appellant asserts is really only referencing the distinction between "ownership" of the manufactured housing and the "ownership" of the land upon which it sits. N.H.R.S.A. 480:1,as codified in 1983. App at p. 25.

The Appellant submits that such an ambiguity, clearly existing in the text of the statute but clarified by resort to the legislative history, should be resolved in favor of the Appellant consistent with the historical treatment of the homestead statutes that they should be liberally construed to achieve their public policy objective, i.e. to protect New Hampshire families in their home. *Maroun, supra*.

It is also instructive and of interest that the "tenancy by the entireties" which recognizes the intrinsic rights of the spouse in the home was abolished by the legislature and was intended to be replaced by the homestead exemption which would recognize the spouse's interest. See *Boissonnault v. Savage*, 625 A.2d 454, 455, 137 N.H. 229 (N.H. 1993):

This special form of ownership was abolished in New Hampshire in 1860. See Laws 1860, ch. 2342; Clark v. Clark, 56 N.H. 105, 109 (1875) (Smith, J., concurring); see generally C. DeGrandpre, 7 New Hampshire Practice, Wills, Trusts and Gifts § 19.03, at 224 (2d ed.1992). Our State addresses this situation through the use of the homestead exemption, RSA 480:1 (Supp.1992).

Boissonnault v. Savage at 455.

It has been, and remains, the intent of the General Court, and the courts construing N.H.R.S.A 480:1 *et seq*, that the spouse of the owner of the home has a separate and enhanced homestead exemption protecting the family home regardless of whether the spouse is on the title.

III. THE VALUE OF THE NON-OWNING SPOUSE'S HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION PURSUANT TO N.H.R.S.A. 480:1 IS CURRENTLY \$120,000

Since the value of the spouse's homestead exemption was raised by the bankruptcy court below and is also inserted in the questions certified to this Court by the District Court, the issue of the value of the exemption must be addressed.

The bankruptcy court below, in conflating the "ownership" language relative to manufactured housing with the homestead generally, concluded that the value of the homestead interest of the non-owning spouse is zero unless and until such spouse became a surviving spouse pursuant to N.H.R.S.A. 480:3-a. Specifically, the bankruptcy court below stated: Upon the Debtor's death, the non-owner spouse will be able to step into the shoes of the owner spouse. At that time, the nonowner spouse will be able to assert a \$120,000 homestead exemption. Until then, while the non-owner spouse may have a homestead right that can be protected by an exemption under RSA 480:3-a, the value of that exemption is \$0.

Bankruptcy Court Memo, page 9. App. at p. 13.

Courts that have addressed this issue seem to find otherwise.

For instance, the First Circuit Court Appeals, in Deutsche Bank Nat'l

Trust Co. v. Pike, 916 F.3d 60, 68 (1st Cir. 2019), in applying New

Hampshire case law, deduced, "...in the event of a forced sale, a

person with a homestead right is entitled to a set-off in the statutorily

defined amount."

That "statutorily defined amount" is currently \$120,000. To say otherwise flies in the face of the clear language of N.H.R.S.A. 480:5a, which reads:

No deed shall convey or encumber the homestead right, except a mortgage made at the time of purchase to secure payment of the purchase money, unless it is executed by the owner and wife or husband, if any, with the formalities required for the conveyance of land.

Sabato v. Federal National Mortgage Association, 172 N.H. 128, 132 (2019), Maroun v. Deutsche Bank Nat'l Tr. Co., 167 N.H. 220, 109

A.3d 203, 208 (2014), *In re Myers*, 323 B.R. 11, 13 (Bankr. D.N.H. 2005) (citing *Currier v. Woodward*, 62 N.H. 63, 66 (1882)).

The mere fact, which cannot be gainsaid, is that a non-owner spouse must release the homestead interest upon alienation of the property. The non-owner spouse's signature is required to convey the property free of that interest.

As previously noted, the *Sabato* case illustrates this requirement which demonstrates the value of the exemption where the failure of the senior mortgagee to obtain the homestead release of the nonowning spouse resulted in a payment of the remaining balance of the homestead portion to the non-owner spouse.

The statutory procedure for giving notice in collection matters in New Hampshire further supports that both spouses, regardless of ownership, have some interest, whether it be a homestead exemption or other encumbrance, to be reckoned with:

Notice of Homestead Exemption

Along with the notice required under RSA 529:20, the party in whose name the execution has issued shall provide to any person who resides or appears to reside on the real estate to be sold, the following notice by certified mail:

NOTICE

IF YOU <u>OR</u> YOUR SPOUSE OWNS AND RESIDES IN THIS PROPERTY, YOU AND/OR YOUR SPOUSE MAY BE ENTITLED TO A HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION PURSUANT

TO RSA 480:1. THIS EXEMPTS \$ 120,000 FOR A SINGLE PERSON AND \$ 240,000 FOR A MARRIED COUPLE *et seq*

NH Stat. 529:20-a Notice of Homestead Exemption (New Hampshire Statutes (2022 Edition)(Emphasis added)

It is noted that the Appellant, as an alternative to the direct application of the subject homestead interest, amended her Schedule D, which is the schedule that sets forth liens on property of the debtor, to reflect an encumbrance in favor of her spouse reflecting his interest therein. However, the bankruptcy court below also rejected this approach since it deemed any such "encumbrance," i.e. the homestead exemption, to have no value so far as the non-owner spouse is concerned.

It is also noted that the concept that spouses should be treated equally in such respects is a matter of common understanding in New Hampshire courts and the New Hampshire bar such as the presumption that marital property, by whichever spouse owned should, absent other considerations, be divided equally. *In the Matter of Watterworth & Watterworth*, 149 N.H. 442, 453, 821 A.2d 1107 (2003) ("RSA 458:16-a, II creates a presumption that equal distribution of marital property is equitable.") The bankruptcy bar in New Hampshire has long treated the homestead exemption in this way and married persons across the State have relied upon it. The non-owner, non-debtor spouse clearly has an interest which has value. As suggested above, how it might be reflected on bankruptcy schedules may be a matter of subjective preference but having the same result. It may be reflected as an encumbrance on Schedule D in the amount of \$120,000, or an exemption in that amount allowed by New Hampshire law on Schedule C either under N.H.R.S.A 480:1. It has value and the value is clearly stated in the statute.

CONCLUSION

The questions certified to this Court by the U.S. District Court should be answered such that the ownership requirement described in the second sentence of N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. 480:1 does not apply to all real property occupied as a homestead since the "interest" language of the statute was not revised, nor does the ownership requirement apply to non-owners of manufactured housing inasmuch as the ownership language is only intended to refer to the land upon which the manufactured housing sits. Therefore, this Court should find and hold that the cohabiting, non-owner spouse has a separate, present, non-contingent homestead exemption valued at \$120,000.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Because this is a matter of first impression, and because it includes complex issues of law of immediate import to the citizens of the State of New Hampshire, Appellant requests oral argument before the full Court. Attorney Leonard G. Deming II will present oral argument on Appellant's behalf.

Dated: March 27, 2023

Respectfully Submitted, Katherine R. Brady, By Deming Law Office /s/Locnard G. Doming II

Leonard G. Deming, II, Esquire 491 Amherst Street, Suite 22 Nashua NH 03063 <u>deminglaw@gmail.com</u> 603-882-2189 (Ext. #2) NH Bar#: 00618

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

COMES NOW Attorney Leonard G. Deming, II, Counsel for the Appellant, Katherine R. Brady, and hereby certifies that this Brief was produced using standard sized typewriter characters or size 14 font, and that excluding the Cover Page, Table of Contents, Table of Authorities, Statutory Provisions, the Certificate of Compliance, Certificate of Service, Signature Block, and Addendum, this brief contains 5,422 words. Dated: March 27, 2023

/s/Lecnard G. Doming IJ

Leonard G. Deming, II, Esq.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

COMES NOW Attorney Leonard G. Deming, II, Counsel for the Appellant, Katherine R. Brady, and hereby certifies that I have caused a copy of the Brief, Addendum, and Appendix to be served upon Counsel for the Appellee and intervening party using this Court's electronic filing system.

Dated: March 27, 2023

/s/Locnard G. Deming II____

Leonard G. Deming, II, Esq.

No. 2023-0023

State Of New Hampshire Supreme Court

KATHERINE R. BRADY, Plaintiff – Appellant v. LAWRENCE P. SUMSKI, Defendant – Appellee

On Certification from the U.S. District Court, District of New Hampshire Case No. 22-cv-272-SM

ADDENDUM TO OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT, KATHERINE R. BRADY

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table of Contents
U.S. District Court, District of New Hampshire Certification
Order
U.S. Bankruptcy Court Order Sustaining Objections to
Exemptions73

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

Katherine R. Brady, Debtor/Appellant

v.

Case No. 22-cv-272-SM Opinion No. 2023 DNH 004

Lawrence P. Sumski, Chapter 13 Trustee, Appellee

CERTIFICATION ORDER

Pursuant to Rule 34 of the Rules of the Supreme Court of New Hampshire, the United States District Court for the District of New Hampshire hereby certifies the following questions of New Hampshire law, which may be determinative of causes pending before it and as to which there appears to be no controlling precedent in the decisions of the Supreme Court:

 Does the ownership requirement described in the second sentence of RSA 480:1 apply to all real property occupied as a homestead, or does it apply only to manufactured housing occupied as a homestead?

That is to say, assuming the homestead is real property other than manufactured housing, does the non-owning occupying spouse of one who holds a homestead right pursuant to RSA 480:1 also have a present, vested, non-contingent homestead right of his or her own, which is currently valued at \$120,000? and 2. Does a non-owning spouse who occupies (as a homestead) a manufactured housing unit with an owning spouse have a present, non-contingent, and enforceable homestead right with respect to that home, which is currently valued at \$120,000?

Statement of Relevant Facts

The material facts are undisputed and more fully described in the attached order in <u>Brady v. Sumski</u>, 2022 WL 17360707, 2022 DNH 150 (Dec. 1, 2022). For the Court's convenience, a copy of the underlying opinion of the Bankruptcy Court is also attached. In short, the relevant facts are as follows. To protect a portion of the equity in her home, a debtor in bankruptcy sought to invoke not only her own state homestead exemption, but also that of her non-debtor husband. But, because only the debtor held title to the couple's home, the Bankruptcy Court concluded that her husband had no present homestead right under N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. ("RSA") 480:1. Instead, pointing to RSA 480:3-a, the Bankruptcy Court held that the non-owning husband's homestead right was contingent and would fully vest only upon the death of his title-holding spouse.¹

¹ RSA 480:3-a provides that, "The owner and the husband or wife of the owner are entitled to occupy the homestead right during the owner's lifetime. <u>After the decease of the owner</u>, the surviving wife or husband of the owner is entitled to the homestead right during the lifetime of such survivor." (emphasis supplied).

Case 1:22-cv-00272-SM Document 11 Filed 01/12/23 Page 3 of 31

RSA 480:1 provides that: "Every person is entitled to \$120,000 worth of his or her homestead, or of his or her interest therein, as a homestead. The homestead right created by this chapter shall exist in manufactured housing, as defined by RSA 674:31, which is owned and occupied as a dwelling by the same person but shall not exist in the land upon which the manufactured housing is situated if that land is not also owned by the owner of the manufactured housing." (emphasis supplied). Resolution of the dispositive questions of New Hampshire law turns on both the scope and meaning of the "owned and occupied" language in the second sentence of that statute. If the "owned and occupied" limitation applies universally - that is, to all real property - then the Bankruptcy Court was correct: the debtor's husband holds no fully-vested homestead right by virtue of RSA 480:1 because he does not hold joint title to the couple's home. If, on the other hand, that "owned and occupied" language applies only to manufactured housing, then the Bankruptcy Court reached the wrong conclusion under state law, and the debtor is entitled to invoke her husband's \$120,000 homestead exemption.

The circumstances under which the spouse of one who holds sole title to the couple's homestead may exercise his or her own independent homestead right presents a dispositive question of

Case 1:22-cv-00272-SM Document 11 Filed 01/12/23 Page 4 of 31

New Hampshire law with regard to which the Supreme Court of New Hampshire should be accorded deference by this Court. Accordingly, the Justices of the Supreme Court of New Hampshire are respectfully requested to resolve the matter according to New Hampshire law.

SO ORDERED.

muntill

Steven J. McAuliffe United States District Judge

January 12, 2023

cc: Leonard G. Deming, II, Esq. Mary F. Stewart, Esq.

Attachments: Brady v. Sumski, 2022 WL 17360707, 2022 DNH 150 (Dec. 1, 2022)

<u>In re: Brady</u>, 2022 WL 1913497, 2022 BNH 003 (Bankr. D.N.H. June 3, 2022)

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

Katherine R. Brady, Debtor/Appellant

v.

Case No. 22-cv-272-SM Opinion No. 2022 DNH 150

Lawrence P. Sumski, Chapter 13 Trustee, Appellee

ORDER

Katherine Brady appeals from a decision of the Bankruptcy Court holding that she was not entitled to claim a homestead exemption on behalf of her non-debtor husband. The Bankruptcy Court determined that because Brady's husband did not have an ownership interest in the couple's home, any homestead interest he had was, under New Hampshire law, at best contingent, and then enforceable only upon Katherine's death.

Reasonable people can certainly interpret New Hampshire's ill-defined statutory provisions related to the homestead right in contradictory ways. But the Bankruptcy Court's construction of those statutes, while reasonable, still seems to be at odds with New Hampshire Supreme Court precedent. That circumstance, in turn, gives rise to a degree of uncertainty that may prove particularly disruptive in administering the homestead right in

Case 1:22-cv-00272-SM Document 11 Filed 01/12/23 Page 6 of 31

many contexts. Establishing the nature and scope of the state's homestead exemption presents issues of particular importance to New Hampshire, as evidenced by the New Hampshire Attorney General's amicus appearance in opposition to the Bankruptcy Court's construction. And, because reconciling ambiguous and possibly contradictory statutory provisions, which necessarily implicates policy choices, is a matter best left within the authoritative province of the New Hampshire Supreme Court, the court proposes to certify dispositive questions of law in this case to the New Hampshire Supreme Court.

Background

The debtor, Katherine Brady, filed an individual Chapter 7 bankruptcy petition in December of 2021. Initially, she listed among her assets a single-family home in Merrimack, New Hampshire. Although her husband and children lived with her in that home, she alone held title to it. She valued the property at approximately \$235,000. On Schedule C, Brady listed her \$120,000 homestead exemption pursuant to New Hampshire Revised Statutes Annotated ("RSA") 480:1. On Schedule D, she listed a mortgage deed of approximately \$180,000 and no other secured claims. In February of 2022, Brady amended her bankruptcy schedules by increasing the value of her home to roughly \$345,000. She also asserted an additional \$120,000 homestead

Case 1:22-cv-00272-SM Document 11 Filed 01/12/23 Page 7 of 31

exemption on behalf of her non-debtor husband (who, as noted above, did not share title to the couple's home). The Chapter 7 Trustee objected to the husband's homestead exemption and sought its disallowance.

In March of 2022, the court granted Brady's motion to convert her case to one under Chapter 13. Subsequently, Brady amended Schedule D to her petition to add a second secured claim: that of her husband, in the amount of \$120,000 (this appears to have been another way for Brady to assert her husband's claimed homestead exemption). The Trustee objected to that amendment as well. On May 2, 2022, the Bankruptcy Court held a hearing on both of the Trustee's objections. In a written decision, the Bankruptcy Court concluded that, under New Hampshire law, a person must both occupy and have an ownership interest in the underlying homestead to be entitled to a present, enforceable, homestead right under RSA 480:1. In re Brady, No. BR 21-10712-BAH, 2022 WL 1913497, at *5 (Bankr. D.N.H. June 3, 2022). The court also determined that although a non-owner spouse does have a homestead right (arising under RSA 480:3-a), that right is contingent in nature and is enforceable only upon the death of the owner-spouse. Id.

Because Brady's husband did not hold any legal title to the couple's home, the Bankruptcy Court concluded that he held no current enforceable homestead right under RSA 480:1. And, because his spouse, Brady, had obviously not predeceased him, that court concluded that he held no present homestead right under RSA 480:3-a - at least not one of any monetary value. Consequently, Brady was not entitled to claim a homestead exemption on his behalf on Schedule C of her bankruptcy petition. For the same reasons, the court concluded that Brady's husband did not hold a secured lien on the couple's home and, therefore, Brady was unable to list such a lien on Schedule D.

Discussion

It is appropriate to begin by identifying what is <u>not</u> at issue in this case. First, there is no dispute that the dispositive question of law - whether Brady's husband currently holds a non-contingent \$120,000 homestead right in the couple's home - is governed by New Hampshire law. Second, all seem to agree - indeed, the Trustee concedes - that if Brady's husband <u>had</u> held joint title to the couple's home, the couple would have been "entitled to a combined exemption of \$240,000," Appellee's Brief (document no. 8) at 5, and, presumably, Brady would have been entitled to list her husband's homestead exemption on

Case 1:22-cv-00272-SM Document 11 Filed 01/12/23 Page 9 of 31

Schedule C to her bankruptcy petition. The sole legal issue presented, then, is whether, under New Hampshire law, Brady's non-owning husband has a <u>present</u> (i.e., non-contingent) homestead interest in the couple's home, valued at \$120,000.

I. New Hampshire's Statutory Provisions.

A person's homestead right is established and governed by RSA chapter 480. Two sections of that statute are particularly relevant in this case, and they provide as follows:

RSA 480:1 - Amount

Every person is entitled to \$120,000 worth of his or her homestead, or of his or her interest therein, as a homestead. The homestead right created by this chapter <u>shall exist in manufactured housing</u>, as defined by RSA 674:31, which is owned and occupied as a dwelling by the same person but shall not exist in the land upon which the manufactured housing is situated if that land is not also owned by the owner of the manufactured housing.

RSA 480:3-a - Duration

The owner and the husband or wife of the owner are entitled to occupy the homestead right during the owner's lifetime. <u>After the decease of the owner</u>, the surviving wife or husband of the owner is entitled to the homestead right during the lifetime of such survivor.

(emphasis supplied).

II. The Bankruptcy Court's Decision.

The Bankruptcy Court concluded that the "owned and occupied" requirement imposed in the second sentence of RSA 480:1 applies not just to manufactured housing but, instead, to all real property occupied as a homestead. <u>In re Brady</u>, 2022 WL 1913497, at *4. Consequently, it found that because Brady's husband did not hold joint title to the couple's home, he did not have any homestead right under RSA 480:1.

The Court is cognizant that RSA 480:1 does not use the word "owner" or "owned" in the first sentence of the statute but rather refers to a homestead and an "interest therein." However, the second sentence of the statute does refer to property that "is owned and occupied as a dwelling." With respect to manufactured housing, the statute is clear that someone must own and occupy the manufactured housing in order to assert a homestead exemption under RSA 480:1. It is not enough to simply occupy it. From a public policy standpoint, it would be nonsensical for the homestead exemption to be more restrictive for manufactured housing than it is for all other housing. Thus, the statute as a whole supports an interpretation that ownership and occupancy are required to claim a homestead exemption in all housing. To interpret the statute otherwise would discriminate against owners of manufactured housing.

<u>In re Brady</u>, 2022 WL 1913497, at *4. Moreover, the Bankruptcy Court reasoned that its interpretation of New Hampshire's homestead right was consistent with principles of fairness and equity: [A] couple has the right to decide that only one of them will own the family homestead, perhaps as [a] means to shield the family home from claims that lie solely against the non-owner. But . . . such a choice has consequences, and one consequence is that the non-owner is unable to assert a homestead exemption under RSA 480:1. If it were otherwise, the non-owner would be getting the benefit of non-ownership, <u>e.g.</u>, not subjecting the family home to potential liens and attachments by third-party creditors, but would not be experiencing the burden of it, <u>i.e.</u>, having no homestead exemption under RSA 480:1. That strikes the Court as both inequitable and inconsistent with the provisions of the statute.

Id. at *3.

In further support of its interpretation of RSA 480:1, the Bankruptcy Court pointed to RSA 480:8-a, which provides that to "establish" the homestead right, "the owner of a homestead or the wife or husband <u>surviving such owner</u>," may file a petition with the superior court. Thus, said the court,

to pursue an action in state court to establish a homestead right, one must be the 'owner' of the homestead property or the 'surviving spouse' of such owner. This provision makes a distinction between ownership and non-ownership, supporting the view that RSA 480:1 only protects an owner's homestead right.

Id. (emphasis supplied).²

² The Bankruptcy Court also relied upon the opinion in <u>In re</u> <u>Visconti</u>, 426 B.R. 422 (Bankr. D.N.H. 2001) to support its interpretation of RSA 480:1. That reliance, however, seems misplaced. In <u>Visconti</u>, the court disallowed the debtor's invocation of his homestead right because, on the date the

In light of those findings, the court concluded that a different section of the statute - RSA 480:3-a - creates and sets the terms of the homestead rights of non-owning spouses:

[U]under RSA 480:3-a, the Court finds that the nonowner spouse's \$120,000 homestead exemption arises only upon the death of the owner. In other words, the Debtor's spouse's interest is contingent. Upon the Debtor's death, the non-owner spouse will be able to step into the shoes of the owner spouse. At that time, the non-owner spouse will be able to assert a \$120,000 homestead exemption. Until then, while the non-owner spouse may have a homestead right that can be protected by an exemption under RSA 480:3-a, the value of that exemption is \$0. The couple is not allowed to "double-dip" and claim \$240,000 as exempt. Otherwise, the ownership requirement of RSA 480:1 would be irrelevant.

Id. at *5 (emphasis supplied).

In short, it is fair to say that the Bankruptcy Court concluded that RSA 480:1 requires a person to both occupy and

debtor filed his petition, he neither owned the couple's homestead nor was he still married to its owner. Consequently, the Bankruptcy Court held, somewhat unremarkably, that, "No homestead may be claimed in property owned by an individual to whom the person is not married, even if they occupy the property. Ownership must exist either in the person claiming the homestead <u>or in that person's spouse</u>. On the petition date, the Debtor could not claim any such ownership interest." <u>Id</u>. at 426 (emphasis supplied). While some broad dicta in <u>Visconti</u> can be read to support the Bankruptcy Court's reading of RSA 480:1, the holding does not resolve the parties' current dispute. In this case, Brady's husband <u>was</u> married to her and he occupied the homestead when Brady filed her bankruptcy petition.

Case 1:22-cv-00272-SM Document 11 Filed 01/12/23 Page 13 of 31

have an ownership interest it the homestead in order to hold a homestead right. In the Bankruptcy Court's view, RSA 480:3-a, <u>not</u> RSA 480:1, establishes and sets the terms of the homestead right in a non-owning spouse, vesting the \$120,000 homestead right only upon the death of the owner spouse.

III. Countervailing Considerations.

The Bankruptcy Court's decision is clear, thoughtful, and logical in its reconciliation of ill-defined statutory language. Still, there are compelling legal arguments that give reason to doubt its conclusions. As importantly, much of the Bankruptcy Court's opinion relies on policy preferences, equity assessments, and assumptions regarding potential discrimination against owners of manufactured housing. Those preferences and assumptions are not clearly rooted in expressions of legislative intent or in identified principles of New Hampshire's common law. Such value judgments are best left to the authoritative province of the New Hampshire Supreme Court.

Among factors weighing against the Bankruptcy Court's interpretation of a non-owning spouse's homestead right is this: the New Hampshire Supreme Court has noted that, as its title suggests ("Duration"), "RSA 480:3-a . . . merely establishes the duration of the homestead right; it does not define the nature of the right itself." Boissonnault v. Savage, 137 N.H. 229, 232-33 (1993) (emphasis supplied). That point undermines the Bankruptcy Court's opinion, which rests on the contradictory conclusion that RSA 480:3-a actually creates and defines the homestead rights of non-owner spouses.

Additionally, a separate New Hampshire statutory provision can certainly be read to imply that non-owning spouses do have a present, non-contingent, and vested homestead right in the couple's home. That statute, which governs levies and executions, provides that, "[a]ll real estate, except the homestead right, may be taken on execution, and may be appraised and set off to the creditor at its just valuation in satisfaction of the execution" RSA 529:1. It goes on to state that, "Notice of the time and place of sale shall be given to the debtor, or left at his abode if he resides in the state." RSA 529:20. With regard to the homestead right, that statute provides, in relevant part, that,

Along with the notice required under RSA 529:20, the party in whose name the execution has issued shall provide to any person who resides or appears to reside on the real estate to be sold, the following notice by certified mail:

NOTICE

IF YOU <u>OR YOUR SPOUSE OWNS</u> AND RESIDES IN THIS PROPERTY, YOU AND/OR YOUR SPOUSE MAY BE ENTITLED TO A

Case 1:22-cv-00272-SM Document 11 Filed 01/12/23 Page 15 of 31

HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION PURSUANT TO RSA 480:1. <u>THIS</u> EXEMPTS \$120,000 FOR A SINGLE PERSON AND \$240,000 FOR A MARRIED COUPLE.

529:20-a (emphasis supplied). While arguable either way perhaps, the statutorily required terms of the notice seem to be more easily read to suggest that a spouse need not hold title to the homestead in order to have a present (and valuable) homestead right in it. Rather, provided the person is married to the owner and resides at the property, the notice requirement appears to assume that he or she has a non-contingent homestead right in the amount of \$120,000.

Finally, the New Hampshire Supreme Court's recent opinion in <u>Sabato v. FNMA</u>, 172 N.H. 128 (2019) stands in contradiction to the Bankruptcy Court's conclusions. The facts presented in <u>Sabato</u> are somewhat complex, but simplified they are as follows. A husband and wife occupied a home in Pelham, but only the wife held legal title to the property. In 2002, the wife refinanced her purchase money mortgage and secured her loan by giving a first mortgage deed that was eventually assigned to Federal National Mortgage Association ("FNMA"). The wife released her homestead right, but her husband did not sign the mortgage deed or otherwise release his homestead right. So, the non-owning husband's homestead right had priority over FNMA's first mortgage deed. See generally RSA 480:4.

Subsequently, the wife and husband gave a second mortgage deed to secure a \$65,000 home equity line of credit, by which they <u>both</u> released their homestead rights. Approximately nine years later, the second mortgage lender foreclosed its mortgage deed. That set up the following somewhat odd lien priority:

First position: second mortgage lender up to the value of the non-owning husband's \$120,000 homestead right (which, because FNMA never obtained a release of that right, had priority over FNMA's first mortgage); then

Second position: FNMA up to the value of its loan; then

Third position: second mortgage lender for the balance of its loan, if any, in excess of \$120,000.

At the foreclosure sale, the property was sold for \$65,000. Because that was less than the husband's homestead interest (\$120,000) the <u>second mortgage lender</u> was lawfully entitled to retain all sale proceeds up to the value of its outstanding loan (which happened to be \$65,000, so second mortgage lender was fully paid). Then, the "unused" balance of the husband's homestead exemption (\$55,000) <u>retained its priority</u> over FNMA's mortgage. So, when FNMA subsequently bought the property from the foreclosure purchaser, it held sole title to that property

Case 1:22-cv-00272-SM Document 11 Filed 01/12/23 Page 17 of 31

<u>subject to</u> the non-owning husband's remaining \$55,000 homestead exemption.

For purposes of this case, the critical point of Sabato is this: the New Hampshire Supreme Court treated the non-owning spouse's homestead right as valid, enforceable, and valued at the then-current statutory amount of \$120,000. That is to say, the non-owning husband held a present, non-contingent homestead right and it had a statutorily prescribed value. To exercise that right and assert its \$120,000 value, he did not have to wait for his spouse to pass, nor did he have to "step into the shoes of the owner." Brady 2022 WL 1913497 at *5. Consequently, the Sabato opinion is at odds with the Bankruptcy Court's conclusion that the "owned and occupied" language in the second sentence of RSA 480:1 applies generally to all real property. Indeed, several years ago, the Bankruptcy Court (Yacos, J.) had a different perspective, noting that the limiting language in RSA 480:1 applies exclusively to manufactured housing:

The New Hampshire statutory provision on homestead exemptions in RSA 480:1 (Supp. 1985) is quite brief: "Every person is entitled to \$5,000 worth of his homestead, or of his interest therein, as a homestead" The remainder of this statutory provision sets forth <u>special rules regarding manufactured</u> <u>housing</u>, i.e., mobile homes, <u>which are not pertinent</u> <u>here</u>. In re Eckols, 63 B.R. 523, 524 (Bankr. D.N.H. 1986) (emphasis supplied).

The foregoing certainly suggests that, under New Hampshire law, except perhaps with respect to manufactured housing,³ a spouse need not hold title to the underlying homestead in order to have a vested, non-contingent homestead right; it is sufficient if that person occupies the homestead and is married to the title-holder.

IV. The "Owned and Occupied" Requirement of RSA 480:1.

As should now be clear, the dispositive issue turns on the meaning and scope of the "owned and occupied" language in the second sentence of RSA 480:1. If that limitation applies universally - that is, to all real property - then the Bankruptcy Court was correct: Brady's husband holds no homestead right by virtue of RSA 480:1 because he does not hold title to the couple's home. If, on the other hand, that "owned and occupied" language applies only to manufactured housing, then

³ The court says "perhaps" with respect to manufactured housing because, as discussed more fully below, one plausible interpretation of RSA 480:1 suggests that even with respect to manufactured housing, a person need <u>not</u> hold title to the property in order to have a homestead right in it, provided he or she occupies it as a homestead and is married to the owner.

Case 1:22-cv-00272-SM Document 11 Filed 01/12/23 Page 19 of 31

the Bankruptcy Court reached the wrong conclusion under state law, and Brady is entitled to invoke her husband's \$120,000 homestead exemption.

In 1983, the New Hampshire legislature added the "owned and occupied" language in the second sentence of RSA 480:1 as part of a larger bill that was designed to redefine the way New Hampshire law treated manufactured housing (or "mobile homes," as they had been known). <u>See</u> An Act Relative to a Transfer Tax on Mobile Homes, Chapter 230 (HB 63), 1981-82 Special Session at 202-09 (effective Aug. 17, 1983). Historically, manufactured housing had been treated as personal property. Chapter 230's amendments to various chapters in New Hampshire's Revised Statutes Annotated changed that and provided, going forward, that manufactured housing would be treated as real property. The overarching goal of those amendments was straightforward: to subject the sale of manufactured housing to New Hampshire's real estate transfer tax.

Given the purpose of Chapter 230's statutory amendments, it seems unlikely that the legislature intended to modify existing law as it related to the homestead right, except to provide that the homestead right would be available to those who owned and occupied manufactured housing as a homestead (perhaps - though

Case 1:22-cv-00272-SM Document 11 Filed 01/12/23 Page 20 of 31

not necessarily — on a more restricted basis). The legislative history on that point, however, remains murky and the proper interpretation of the "owned and occupied" language of RSA 480:1 is unresolved.

There is a plausible interpretation of the 1983 amendments to RSA 480:1 that does not require both occupancy and ownership for the homestead right to vest (either in manufactured housing specifically or, more generally, in any real estate occupied as a homestead). Because manufactured housing is often situated on property owned by a third party (a developer, park owner, or homeowners' association for example), the legislature may have employed the "owned and occupied" language as a means to make clear that the homestead right typically attaches only to the manufactured housing unit and not the underlying real estate upon which it is set (unless, of course, the same entity holds title to both). That is to say, the homestead right attaches to manufactured housing when an occupant holds title to the unit and occupies it as a dwelling; the owner of the underlying real estate may not claim the homestead right unless that person also holds title to the manufactured housing unit and occupies it as a homestead. There may have been no legislative intent to alter the then-current statutory scheme which seems to have afforded a

Case 1:22-cv-00272-SM Document 11 Filed 01/12/23 Page 21 of 31

present, non-contingent homestead right to both the owner of the homestead and his or her non-owning (but occupying) spouse.

Similarly, there is a plausible interpretation of RSA 480:8-a (upon which the Bankruptcy Court relied) that does not compel the conclusion that non-owning spouses have no present homestead right under RSA 480:1. To be sure, that statute provides that only the "owner" of the homestead or the surviving spouse of the owner may petition the superior court to "establish" the homestead right.

Establishing Right. The superior court, upon petition of the owner of a homestead or the wife or husband surviving such owner, or upon petition of a judgment creditor and such notice as it may order, may appoint appraisers and cause the homestead right to be set off, and a record of the proceedings being made in the registry of deeds, the right shall be established as against all persons.

RSA 480:8-a (emphasis supplied). As noted above, the Bankruptcy Court found that provision to be supportive of its conclusion that the spouse of the homestead owner has no present homestead right of any value and that his or her valuable right vests only upon the owning spouse's death. But it is also reasonable to read RSA 480:8-a as merely establishing a <u>standing</u> priority in the owning spouse with regard to bringing a petition in Superior Court in the first instance. That is to say, the legislature

Case 1:22-cv-00272-SM Document 11 Filed 01/12/23 Page 22 of 31

may have deemed it best to have the owner of the underlying homestead property file any such petitions and, only if that owner had died, to allow the surviving spouse to file such a petition. Again, however, the legislative intent and the reason for the language employed in that statute remain unclear.

V. Certification to the N.H. Supreme Court.

When, in situations such as this, a federal court is called upon to apply state law, it "must take state law as it finds it: not as it might conceivably be, some day; nor even as it should be." Kassel v. Gannett Co., 875 F.2d 935, 950 (1st Cir. 1989) (citation and internal punctuation omitted). When state law has been authoritatively interpreted by the state's highest court, this court's role is clear: it must apply that law according to its tenor. See Id. When the law is unclear but the signposts are only modestly blurred, the federal court may assume that the state court would adopt an interpretation of state law that is consistent with logic and supported by reasoned authority. See Moores v. Greenberg, 834 F.2d 1105, 1107 n.3 (1st Cir. 1987). However, this court is and should be hesitant to blaze new, previously uncharted state-law trails. Accordingly, when a dispositive legal question is novel and the state's law in the area is unsettled, certification is often appropriate. See Lehman Bros. v. Schein, 416 U.S. 386, 391 (1974); Arizonans for

<u>Official English v. Arizona</u>, 520 U.S. 43, 76 (1997). <u>See also</u> <u>Acadia Ins. Co. v. McNeil</u>, 116 F.3d 599, 605 (1st Cir. 1997) ("[W]hen the meaning of a state law depends on the decisionmaker's ability to discern the state legislature's intent from an array of mixed signals, considerations of federalism, comity, and practicality suggest that the state's highest tribunal is best positioned to make an informed and authoritative judgment."). The signposts here are more than modestly blurred and the Bankruptcy Court's decision exposes the array of mixed signals found in the state's statutes and judicial precedent.

The New Hampshire Supreme Court has yet to address the nuanced issues presented in this case. Moreover, resolution of those issues implicates significant public policy matters for the State of New Hampshire. Indeed, the New Hampshire Department of Justice, Consumer Protection Division, has asserted that resolution of the issues presented in this case "will have a broad impact on the ability of New Hampshire consumers to obtain a fresh start through bankruptcy and may endanger home ownership for married consumers outside of bankruptcy" Amicus Brief (document no. 5) at 1. Accordingly, the prudent course at this stage is to certify the dispositive questions of state law. Otherwise, our Court of

> 23 Page 63 of 72

Case 1:22-cv-00272-SM Document 11 Filed 01/12/23 Page 24 of 31

Appeals would likely have to revisit the question of certification — a situation that does not represent an efficient use of either judicial or the litigants' resources. And, even if the Court of Appeals decided to resolve the matter on the merits, lingering doubt would still remain until the New Hampshire Supreme Court authoritatively construed New Hampshire's statutes and reconciled New Hampshire legal precedent. In the meantime, uncertainty and disruption and a risk of conflicts in the administration of legal claims related to the homestead right could continue unabated.

Conclusion

The court proposes to certify the following questions of law to the New Hampshire Supreme Court:

1. Does the ownership requirement described in the second sentence of N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. 480:1 apply to all real property occupied as a homestead, or does it apply only to manufactured housing occupied as a homestead?

That is to say, assuming the homestead is real property other than manufactured housing, does the non-owning occupying spouse of one who holds a homestead right pursuant to RSA 480:1 also have a present, vested, noncontingent homestead right of his or her own, which is currently valued at \$120,000? and

2. Does a non-owning spouse who occupies a manufactured housing unit with an owning spouse have a present (i.e., non-contingent) and enforceable homestead right with respect to that home, which is currently valued at \$120,000?

Case 1:22-cv-00272-SM Document 11 Filed 01/12/23 Page 25 of 31

<u>See generally</u> N.H. Supr. Ct. R. 34. If any party objects to the form of the questions the court proposes to certify, a written objection, along with suggested alternative language, shall be filed on or before **December 15**, 2022. The court proposes to submit to the New Hampshire Supreme Court, as its statement of facts, the facts as presented in this order. If any party objects or wishes the court to supplement that statement of facts, that party shall file an objection and a proposed statement of supplemental facts by the same date.

SO ORDERED.

Steven S. McAuliffe United States District Judge

December 1, 2022

cc: Counsel of Record

2022 WL 1913497 United States Bankruptcy Court, D. New Hampshire.

IN RE: Katherine R. BRADY, Debtor Bk. No. 21-

10712-BAH

Signed June 3, 2022

Attorneys and Law Firms

Leonard G. Deming, II, Esq., Deming Law Office, Nashua, New Hampshire, Attorney for Debtor.

Lawrence P. Sumski, Esq., Merrimack, New Hampshire, Chapter 13 Trustee.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Bruce A. Harwood, Chief Bankruptcy Judge

I. INTRODUCTION

*1 The Court has before it an objection to the Debtor's claim of homestead exemption (Doc. No. 19) (the "Homestead Exemption Objection") and an objection to the Debtor's amendment to Schedule D (Doc. No. 47) (the "Schedule D Objection") (together, the "Objections"). The Court held a hearing on the Objections on May 20, 2022, and took the matters under advisement.

This Court has jurisdiction of the subject matter and the

parties pursuant to <u>28 U.S.C. §§ 1334</u> and 157(a) and Local Rule 77.4(a) of the United States District Court for the District of New Hampshire. This is a core proceeding in accordance

with <u>28 U.S.C. § 157(b)</u>.

II. FACTS AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

The Debtor filed an individual chapter 7 bankruptcy petition on December 17, 2021. On Schedule A/B, she listed an ownership interest in a single-family home located in Merrimack, New Hampshire (the "Property"). The Property is owned solely by the Debtor pursuant to a deed dated June 2, 2014. On the petition date, the Debtor resided at the Property with her husband and their two children. She valued the Property as being worth \$236,100. On Schedule C, the Debtor claimed a \$120,000 homestead exemption pursuant to <u>New Hampshire Revised Statute</u> <u>Annotated ("RSA") 480:1</u>. On Schedule D, she listed a mortgage claim totaling \$178,445.61 and no other secured claims.

On January 25, 2022, Edmond Ford, chapter 7 trustee (the "Chapter 7 Trustee"), conducted the section 341 meeting of creditors. Thereafter, on February 1, 2022, the Debtor amended Schedules A/B and C. She increased the value of the Property to \$346,700, and she asserted an additional \$120,000 homestead exemption for her "Non-owner Husband" (as she described him in her Notice of Amended Schedules) pursuant to <u>RSA 480:1</u>:



On February 4, 2022, the Chapter 7 Trustee retained counsel to investigate and potentially liquidate assets. On February 9, 2022, the Debtor moved to convert her case to chapter 13. A hearing on the motion to convert was scheduled for March 9, 2022.

Before the hearing on the motion to convert was held, the Chapter 7 Trustee filed the Homestead Exemption Objection, which was scheduled for hearing on March 23, 2022. The Chapter 7 Trustee objected to the Debtor's claim of a second homestead exemption under <u>RSA 480:1</u> in the amount of \$120,000 on behalf of her non-debtor, non-owner husband, and sought disallowance of the exemption.

On March 9, 2022, the Court converted the Debtor's case to a chapter 13 case.

On March 23, 2022, the Court held a hearing on the Homestead Exemption Objection at which Lawrence P. Sumski, the chapter 13 trustee (the "Chapter 13 Trustee"), appeared. The Chapter 13 Trustee indicated he intended to pursue the Homestead Exemption Objection. The Court ordered the Chapter 13 Trustee to file a supplemental objection by April 25, 2022. The parties indicated their willingness to file a joint stipulation of facts, which the Court ordered the parties to file by May 2, 2022.

*2 The parties filed a joint statement on facts on April 1, 2022. That same day, the Debtor amended Schedule D to include the following secured claim of her non-debtor, non- owner husband:

 List all second classes. To conduct crass, let the conduct separately for all creater hars a periodic form. All the much as periodic for the planes in all conducts range. 	eti davri, if ince dae ore dheroriedtora in Part 2, As natietical order arcording to Rie	Column 2 Amount of Class Do not deduct the salue of columns	Catalog & Value of collaborat that suggests the chart	Cause 5 Resecced portion If ally
<u>47</u>	Describe the property that secures the claim	\$120,000.00	\$346,700.00	_
Darvel J. Brady Order's sent 27 Februarie Drive Nortes Stat	37 Pinewood Drive. Werrimack, 644 03054			
	As althe date yes lin. the case	al Chief of the apply		
Marrineack NH 82064	Contropent Uniteratured Diseased			
E Device if with	Nature of Iven. Chick all that las	and the second se	t car isani	
Delator 2 only Delator 1 and Desitor 2 only	Distutory rem clouth as fair feet	metarix's terti		
At least imp of the dectors and pecther	Dudgment liet from a liaskell	*1		
Charle & the class rolates	Lien on Property			
Date-debt was incorned	Last 4 digra of account ramition			

On April 5, 2022, the Chapter 13 Trustee objected to this amendment. The Court scheduled a hearing on the Schedule D Objection for May 20, 2022, the same day as the hearing on the Homestead Exemption Objection.

The Chapter 13 Trustee and the Debtor both filed memoranda of law in support of their positions. The Court held a hearing on May 20, 2022, and took the Objections under advisement.

III. DISCUSSION

A. Homestead Exemption

"The purpose of the homestead exemption is to secure to debtors and their family the shelter of the homestead roof." <u>Deyeso v. Cavadi, 165 N.H. 76, 79 (2013)</u>. Courts are to construe the homestead liberally. <u>In re Myers, 323 B.R. 11, 13</u> (<u>Bankr. D.N.H. 2005</u>). The Bankruptcy Code and Rules set forth the framework for asserting and objecting to a debtor's

claim of exemption in a bankruptcy case. Federal Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure 4003(a) provides that "[a] debtor shall list the property claimed as exempt under § 522 of the Code on the schedule of assets required to be filed by Rule 1007." Subsection 522(b)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code provides in relevant part that "an individual debtor may exempt from property of the estate property listed in ... paragraph (3) of this subsection." Subsection 522(b)(3) provides that "[p]roperty listed in this paragraph is ... any property that is exempt under ... State or local law that is applicable on the date of the filing of the petition in the place in which the debtor's domicile has been located for the 730 days immediately preceding the date of the filing of the petition ..." Accordingly, the Debtor asserted New Hampshire's exemptions on Schedule C.

New Hampshire's homestead exemption is set forth in <u>RSA</u> <u>480:1</u>, which states:

Every person is entitled to \$120,000 worth of his or her homestead, or of his

or her interest therein, as a homestead. The homestead right created by this chapter shall exist in manufactured housing, as defined by <u>RSA 674:31</u>, which is owned and occupied as a dwelling by the same person but shall not exist in the land upon which the manufactured housing is situated if that land is not also owned by the owner of the manufactured housing.

RSA 480:3-a provides further that:

The owner and the husband or wife of the owner are entitled to occupy the homestead right during the owner's lifetime. After the decease of the owner, the surviving wife or husband of the owner is entitled to the homestead right during the lifetime of such survivor.

"[A] party in interest may file an objection to the list of property claimed as exempt within 30 days after the meeting of creditors held under § 341(a) is concluded or within 30 days after any amendment to the list or supplemental schedules is

filed, whichever is later." Fed. R. Bankr. P. 4003(b)(1). The party objecting to an exemption bears the burden of proof.

Fed. R. Bankr. P. 4003(c).

The Chapter 13 Trustee objects to the Debtor's assertion of a homestead exemption pursuant to <u>RSA 480:1</u> on behalf of her non-debtor spouse, who resides at the Property but has no ownership interest in it. ¹ In support of his position, the Chapter 13 Trustee cites various court decisions from this district, including <u>In re Visconti, 426 B.R. 422 (Bankr. D.N.H. 2010)</u>, where the Court clearly stated that "the homestead exemption under <u>RSA 480:1</u> requires both occupancy <u>and ownership.</u>" <u>Id. at 426</u> (emphasis added). The Court explained further that "a spouse who does not hold an ownership interest does have a right to occupy the homestead during the ownerspouse's lifetime and <u>can claim a homestead right for their life after the death of the owner-spouse.</u>" <u>Id. (citing RSA 480:3-a)</u>.

In re Brady, Slip Copy (2022) Cv-00272-SM Document 11 Filed 01/12/23 Page 28 of 31

2022 BNH 003

The Court reiterated the ownership requirement in its recent decision in <u>In re St. Laurent, 2022 BNH 002</u>, when it stated:

*3 <u>RSA 480:1</u> provides in relevant part that "[e]very person is entitled to \$120,000 worth of his or her homestead, or of his or her interest, therein as a homestead." The New Hampshire Supreme Court has held that the homestead right must be established by actual physical possession of a property with the intent to occupy it as a home. <u>Currier v. Woodward, 62 N.H.</u> <u>63, 64 (1882)</u>. However, "occupancy alone does not preserve the homestead right—it also requires ownership." <u>Visconti,</u> <u>426 B.R. at 425-26</u> (citing <u>Gerrish v. Hill, 66 N.H. 171 (1890)</u> (no homestead right when the debtors sold a farm

but continued to live on it); Beland v. Goss, 68 N.H. 257 (1895) (homestead right was lost when the property was sold and the debtors moved out); Stewart v. Bader, 154

<u>N.H. 75, 89 (2006)</u> (defendant lost homestead right by lack of occupancy but court also noted that the property was sold several years before)). Thus, "the homestead exemption under <u>RSA 480:1</u> requires both occupancy and ownership." <u>Visconti, 426</u> <u>B.R. at 426</u>.

<u>Id.</u> at 4. Despite these clear pronouncements, the Debtor contends there is no ownership requirement to claim a homestead exemption under <u>RSA 480:1</u>, arguing that the statute protects a "homestead interest" and that the Court's statements in <u>Visconti</u> were merely dicta. The Court disagrees.

Judge Deasy found that the debtor in <u>Visconti</u> was not entitled to a homestead exemption in the property because (1) the debtor did not have an ownership interest in the property, and (2) the debtor was not married to someone who had an ownership interest in the property. <u>Visconti, 426 B.R. at 426</u>. The finding that the debtor did not own the property was critical to Judge Deasy's analysis.

The Debtor argues that her spouse has an "interest" in the Property that is protected by <u>RSA 480:1</u>. The Chapter 13 Trustee agrees that a non-debtor, non-owner spouse may have an "interest" in the Property. For example, a spouse may have a tenancy interest, an inheritance right, or an interest in the property as part of a marital estate in a state court divorce proceeding. The Chapter 13 Trustee asks, though: if he offered the non-owner spouse money for any of those "interests," what would he get? Would he be able to occupy the home? Would a third party be able to obtain a lien or

attachment against that interest in state court? The Chapter 13 Trustee argues no, and the Court agrees.

The Chapter 13 Trustee acknowledges that a couple has the right to decide that only one of them will own the family homestead, perhaps as means to shield the family home from claims that lie solely against the non-owner. But the Chapter 13 Trustee argues that such a choice has consequences, and one consequence is that the non-owner is unable to assert a homestead exemption under <u>RSA 480:1</u>. If it were otherwise, the non-owner would be getting the benefit of non- ownership, e.g., not subjecting the family home to potential liens and attachments by third-party creditors, but would not be experiencing the burden of it, i.e., having no homestead exemption under <u>RSA 480:1</u>. That strikes the Court as both inequitable and inconsistent with the provisions of the statute.

*4 The Court is cognizant that RSA 480:1 does not use the word "owner" or "owned" in the first sentence of the statute but rather refers to a homestead and an "interest therein." However, the second sentence of the statute does refer to property that "is owned and occupied as a dwelling." With respect to manufactured housing, the statute is clear that someone must own and occupy the manufactured housing in order to assert a homestead exemption under RSA 480:1. It is not enough to simply occupy it. From a public policy standpoint, it would be nonsensical for the homestead exemption to be more restrictive for manufactured housing than it is for all other housing. Thus, the statute as a whole supports an interpretation that ownership and occupancy are required to claim a homestead exemption in all housing. To interpret the statute otherwise would discriminate against owners of manufactured housing.

If ownership is not a requirement for asserting a homestead exemption under <u>RSA 480:1</u>, the Court questions whether there is any limit to the exemption's scope. What if a homeowner has several adult children who live in the family homestead? Is every adult child who lives in the home able to assert a \$120,000 exemption? What about a common law spouse or a live-in girlfriend, boyfriend, or partner? Can they assert a \$120,000 homestead exemption? After all, it is their home too, is it not? The Debtor argues that the exemption in <u>RSA 480:1</u> does not extend that far, but she does not articulate any principled limitation on her construction of the homestead exemption statute.

The Court notes further that <u>RSA 480:8-a</u> provides:

The superior court, upon petition of the <u>owner</u> of a homestead or the <u>wife</u> <u>or husband surviving such</u> <u>owner</u>, or upon petition of a judgment creditor and such notice as it may order, may appoint appraisers and cause the homestead right to be set off, and a record of the proceedings being made in the registry of deeds, the right shall be established as against all persons. (Emphasis added).

Thus, to pursue an action in state court to establish a homestead right, one must be the "owner" of the homestead property or the "surviving spouse" of such owner. This provision makes a distinction between ownership and non- ownership, supporting the view that <u>RSA 480:1</u> only protects an owner's homestead right.

The Debtor also argues that § 522 does not restrict the scope of its application to purely the "debtor's exemptions," and, therefore, the Debtor may "use New Hampshire exemptions to their full extent which includes an exemption in the non-owner spouse." While it may be true that § 522 does not limit its application to a debtor's exemptions, ² that proposition does not resolve a fundamental issue presented by the facts of this case: what exemption does a non-owner spouse have in a family homestead?

The First Court of Appeals stated in <u>Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust</u> v. Pike, 916 F.3d 60, 68 (1st Cir. 2019):

When a married couple resides together in a home, the homestead right "extends to ... both spouses, even when only one spouse legally owns the homestead." <u>Maroun</u> v. Deutsche Bank Nat'l Tr. Co., 167 N.H. 220, 109 A.3d 203, 208 (2014) (citing N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 480:3-a); see also N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 529:20-a. The homestead right of a property owner's spouse is established once he or she physically <u>occupies</u> the subject property. <u>Walbridge</u>

v. Estate of Beaudoin, 163 N.H. 804, 48 A.3d 964, 966 (2012).

This Court also addressed the issue in <u>In re Hopkins, 2021</u> <u>BNH 004</u>, and found that "the exemption in <u>RSA 480:3-a</u> is for spouses who do not have an ownership interest in their residence at the time of the homeowner's death." <u>Id.</u> at 6. Upon the homeowner's death, surviving spouses are entitled to both occupy the homestead during their lifetime and to protect \$120,000 of their interest in the family home.

*5 In this case, the Debtor has not asserted a homestead exemption under <u>RSA 480:3-a</u> on Schedule C on behalf of her non-debtor, non-owner spouse, but only an exemption

pursuant to <u>RSA 480:1</u>, ³ which is not proper, as her spouse is not an owner of the Property. But even if she had asserted an exemption under <u>RSA 480:3-a</u>, the Court finds that the nonowner spouse's \$120,000 homestead exemption arises only upon the death of the owner. In other words, the Debtor's spouse's interest is contingent. Upon the Debtor's death, the non-owner spouse will be able to step into the shoes of the owner spouse. At that time, the non-owner spouse will be able to assert a \$120,000 homestead exemption. Until then, while the non-owner spouse may have a homestead right that can be protected by an exemption under <u>RSA 480:3-a</u>, the value of that exemption is \$0. The couple is not allowed to "doubledip" and claim \$240,000 as exempt. Otherwise, the ownership requirement of <u>RSA 480:1</u> would be irrelevant.

Because the Debtor's spouse is not an owner of the Property, he is not entitled to claim an exemption under <u>RSA 480:1</u>. Accordingly, the Debtor is unable to assert such an exemption in Schedule C. For that reason, the Homestead Exemption Objection must be sustained.

B. Amendment to Schedule D

Federal Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure 1009(a) permits a debtor to amend schedules "as a matter of course at any time before the case is closed." A bankruptcy court has the discretion to deny an amendment to schedules based up a showing of either:

- 1. Bad faith; or
- 2. Prejudice to creditors or third parties.

Wood Premier Capital, Inc. (In re Wood), 291 B.R. 219, 228 (B.A.P. 1st Cir. 2003).

The Chapter 13 Trustee filed the Schedule D Objection stating simply:

The issue of the appropriateness of a second homestead exemption filed by the debtor on behalf of a nondebtor, non-co-owner of her residential real estate is currently before the Court. The debtor through her counsel has expressed a legal theory that the non- debtor, non-co-owner husband, Daniel J. Brady, already has a legal interest of some sort in the property, and so the debtor has filed an amended Schedule D to assert the "lien" that he has on the residential property. The issue is squarely before the Court but to make sure it is preserved for the scheduled hearing the undersigned hereby objects to the amendment to Schedule D to show the fictional lien in the amount of \$120,000.00.

The Chapter 13 Trustee does not explicitly contend that the amendment was made in bad faith or that it would prejudice creditors or third parties. Rather, his objection goes to the merits of the non-owner spouse's legal rights, i.e., whether he holds a secured claim against the Property.

The Debtor contends that the non-owner spouse's interest in the Property is "an encumbrance upon the family home which is separate from the Debtor's own homestead exemption right." The Debtor has listed this "encumbrance" on Schedule D and described it as a "statutory lien" and "lien on property." The Debtor has cited no legal authority (other than RSA 480) for the proposition that the non-owner's interest in the Property is protected by a "statutory lien" or "lien on property" as asserted in Schedule D. The Court is aware of none. In the Court's view, the non-owner spouse does not have any lien rights in the Property. Rather, as explained above, a non-owner spouse may be able to assert a homestead exemption in the Property pursuant to <u>RSA 480:3-a</u>. But, that interest in the Property is not a secured claim that should be listed on Schedule D. Because the Court finds that the non-debtor, nonowner spouse does not have a lien on the Property as asserted by the Debtor, the Debtor's amendment to Schedule D must be denied.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth in this opinion, the Court finds that the Debtor's assertion of a homestead exemption under <u>RSA 480:1</u> on behalf of her non-owner spouse is improper as is her amendment to Schedule D asserting that her non- owner spouse possesses a lien that secures his interest in the Property. Accordingly, the Court will issue a separate order sustaining the Homestead Exemption Objection and the Schedule D Objection. This opinion constitutes the Court's findings of fact and conclusions of law in accordance with Federal Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure 7052.

*6 ENTERED at Concord, New Hampshire.

All Citations

Slip Copy, 2022 WL 1913497, 2022 BNH 003

Footnotes

¹ In chapter 13, exemptions are relevant as they affect the "best interest of creditors test" set forth in P_{11} <u>U.S.C. § 1325(a)(4)</u>, which provides that a plan can be confirmed if "the value as of the effective date of the plan, of property to be distributed under the plan on account of each allowed unsecured claim is not less than the amount that would be paid on such claim if the estate of the debtor were liquidated under chapter 7 of this title on such date."

The Debtor filed a chapter 13 plan on April 10, 2022. She proposes to pay \$31,500 over the life of her plan at the rate of \$525 per month for 60 months, which will result in an estimated dividend of 66% toward estimated unsecured claims of \$42,218. The liquidation analysis in the plan reflects that unsecured creditors will receive 0% in chapter 7, based on the Debtor inclusion of \$240,000 in homestead exemptions under <u>RSA 480:1</u>. If only the Debtor's \$120,000 exemption were included, there would be \$48,254 available for creditors (less

30

chapter 7 administrative expenses) resulting in a greater dividend in a chapter 7 case than that proposed by the Debtor in her plan. For that reason, the Debtor's plan would not meet the "best interest of creditors test."

- $\frac{2}{2}$ The Court will assume this is true without deciding it.
- ³ While the Debtor has also cited RSA 480:2 in Schedule C, that section of the statute was repealed in 1973.

End of Document

© 2023 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.

31

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT DISTRICT OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

In re:

Katherine R. Brady, Debtor Bk. No. 21-10712-BAH Chapter 13

<u>ORDER</u>

The Court having issued its memorandum opinion of even date regarding an objection to

the Debtor's claim of homestead exemption (Doc. No. 19) (the "Homestead Exemption

Objection") and an objection to the Debtor's amendment to Schedule D (Doc. No. 47) (the

"Schedule D Objection"), it is hereby ORDERED:

1. The Homestead Exemption Objection is sustained.

2. The Schedule D Objection is sustained.

This is a core proceeding in accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 157(b) as to which this Court

has jurisdiction of the subject matter and the parties.

ENTERED at Concord, New Hampshire.

Date: June 3, 2022

<u>/s/ Bruce A. Harwood</u> Bruce A. Harwood Chief Bankruptcy Judge